ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

SEP 18 2015

S.C. Supreme Court

Certiorari to Greenville County

Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

ANTHONY MAURICE LOUNDS,

PETITIONER,

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2015-000124

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

WANDA H. CARTER
Deputy Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Trial counsel erred in failing to inquire into and communicate to petitioner the state's plea offers presented in the case.

II. Trial counsel erred in failing to call defense witnesses Brigham Young and Zeldric Vance, both of whom testified at the PCR hearing, to testify at trial because both of these witnesses would have provided favorable testimony for the defense by offering testimony that petitioner was not guilty as neither a principle nor an accomplice liability, and by presenting testimony that the case was a drug deal gone awry rather than a robbery in the first place.

STATEMENT

Petitioner Anthony Maurice Lounds was convicted of armed robbery and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime during the November 2010 term of the Greenville County General Sessions Court before Judge C. Victor Pyle. Petitioner received a sentence of life without parole on the armed robbery conviction and five years on his conviction of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. App. 1 – 237. Scott Robinson represented petitioner at trial, and Assistant Solicitors George Campbell and Sloan Ellis appeared on behalf of the state. Petitioner appealed, but his convictions and sentences were affirmed on appeal. See State v. Lounds, Op. No. 2013-UP-289 (S.C. Ct. App. filed June 26, 2013). Susan B. Hackett, of the Office of Appellate Defense, represented petitioner on direct appeal.

On August 3, 2013, petitioner filed a PCR application with the Greenville County Office of the Clerk of Court. App. 239 – 245. The respondent filed a return dated April 8, 2014, requesting that a PCR hearing be held in the case. App. 246 – 249.

A PCR hearing was convened on October 21, 2014, at the Greenville County Courthouse before Judge Letitia H. Verdin. App. 251 – 322. Petitioner was present at the hearing and represented by Mills Ariail, and Assistant Attorney General Karen Ratigan appeared on behalf of the state. On November 8, 2014, Judge Verdin signed an Order of Dismissal in the case therein denying petitioner's allegations of ineffective assistance of trial counsel. App. 324 – 333.

Petitioner appealed Judge Verdin's Order. This petition follows.

QUESTION I

Trial counsel erred in failing to inquire into and communicate to petitioner the state's plea offers presented in the case.

Petitioner testified at the PCR hearing and explained that his trial attorney was not his only appointed counsel. Originally, Nihar Patel, Esquire, was assigned to petitioner's case, but he was relieved as counsel for petitioner on December 8, 2010. On December 31, 2010, trial counsel was assigned to petitioner's case. Petitioner's case was tried before a jury on July 12, 2011. App. 257, l. 10 – p. 260, l. 10. Petitioner testified that he later learned that plea offers were extended to him on May 17, 2010, when Patel was his attorney, and on January 26, 2011, while trial counsel represented him. Petitioner added that he might have accepted either of the offers had he known of them. App. 273, l. 11 – p. 276, l. 20. Note that two solicitors prosecuted petitioner: George Campbell and Sloan Ellis.

Trial counsel addressed this issue at the PCR hearing as follows:

Q. Do you recall ever having received a plea offer from the State while you represented Mr. Lounds?

A. I don't recall independently. I actually took the precaution of calling Sloan Ellis. Sloan Ellis did not recall any plea offer being made in this matter.

Q. Just for the Record, Sloan Ellis is who?

A. He was the assistant solicitor who prosecuted the case with Mr. Campbell in this matter. I don't believe – I think Mr. Lounds – whatever the plea offer would have been, it would have been 15 or so, approximately 15 charges that were outstanding at that point. I can't imagine that plea offer would have been something he would've taken.

Q. But you don't have any independent recollection that there was a plea offer?

A. I don't. I don't believe there was.

Q. As part of your general practice, what do you do when you get a plea offer from the state?

A. Take it to the client. That's why I think that either myself or Mr. Silvaggio would have done that. But I believe that – if any offer actually did take place, it would have been a very high, very significant offer in this matter. I don't believe Mr. Lounds would ever take it. App. 309, l. 22 – p. 310, l. 22.

Additionally, reprinted below from page three (3) of the supplemental appendix is a paragraph from a letter written by appellate counsel to petitioner during the direct appeal verifying the fact that plea offers were made in his (petitioner's) case. The letter confirms as follows:

“I [Direct Appeal Counsel] spoke to George Campbell of the Greenville Solicitor's office...[who] stated that ...[he] did find in his computer system.....offers made on May 17, 2010 and January 26, 2011.”

Apparently, trial counsel contacted Solicitor Ellis regarding plea offers, but failed to contact Solicitor Campbell, who was also a prosecutor in the case, about plea offers. Also, counsel failed to contact former counsel Patel, who was previously assigned to represent petitioner, about plea offers. These omissions constituted error.

A defendant has a right to effective assistance of counsel during the plea bargaining process. In Judge v. State, 321 S.C. 554, 471 S.E.2d 146 (1996), the Court held that the Sixth Amendment regarding effective assistance of counsel applied to the plea bargaining process also. Judge was overruled on other grounds by Jackson v. State, 342 SC 95, 535 S.E. 2d 926 (2000), to the extent that a statement by a client that he was prejudiced by counsel's deficient performance at the plea bargaining process can satisfy the prejudice prong of the two-pronged test to be met in ineffective assistance of counsel cases. See Missouri v. Frye, 132 S.Ct. 1399 (2012), where counsel was found ineffective in failing to convey to the defendant the plea offer before it expired. See also Davie v.

State, 381 S.C. 601, 675 S.E.2d 416 (2009), where the Court held that counsel was ineffective in failing to communicate a plea offer to the defendant. In Davie, the Court held that counsel's failure to inform the defendant of a written plea offer that was substantially less than the sentence he received after pleading guilty constituted ineffective assistance of counsel because the defendant was unaware of the existence of the plea offer (due to counsel's error) until after the plea offer had expired, and that he would have accepted the plea offer had it been communicated to him. In Lafler v. Cooper, 132 S.Ct. 1376 (2012), the Supreme Court held that petitioner was prejudiced by counsel's deficient performance in advising petitioner to reject a plea offer and go to trial.

A guilty plea must represent a voluntary and intelligent choice among alternative courses of action open to the defendant. Hill v. Lockhart, 474 U.S. 52 (1985). Here, counsel's error regarding the failure to communicate to petitioner the state's two plea offers prior to trial violated petitioner's right to receive effective legal assistance in his criminal case by guarantee of the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution. See Hill v. Lockhart, supra. Petitioner was prejudiced by counsel's negligence because he stated at the PCR hearing that he would have considered and maybe accepted either of the plea offers had they been made know to him, and note that a reasonable probability existed that the outcome of his convictions and sentences might have been different but for counsel's error in this regard.

QUESTION II

Trial counsel erred in failing to call defense witnesses Brigham Young and Zeldric Vance, both of whom testified at the PCR hearing, to testify at trial because both of these witnesses would have provided favorable testimony for the defense by offering proof that petitioner was not guilty as neither a principle nor an accomplice, and by presenting testimony that the case was a drug deal gone awry rather than a robbery in the first place.

At trial, Bryan Workman testified that he spent the night in a Motel 6 Hotel room on September 5, 2009, and had been waiting for a female companion to appear during that time when he heard a car door sound. Workman stated that he exited his room and saw petitioner walking towards him. Workman stated that petitioner asked for “dope” and then minutes later, petitioner placed a gun in [his midsection] and told him to go back into the hotel room. While they were inside the room, Workman stated that petitioner took his checkbook and fled. Workman realized subsequently that some checks, which he presumably had not authorized to be cashed, had cleared on his account. Workman identified petitioner as the perpetrator by selecting his photograph from a police line-up he viewed. Note that there was a videotape in existence of two men who allegedly cashed one of Workman’s checks at a grocery store, but Workman could not identify petitioner on the tape. App. 61, l. 11 – p. 78, l. 15. Note further that there were no other eyewitnesses in the case who were available to corroborate Workman’s testimony. Finally, note that although petitioner did not testify at trial or present any defense witnesses at trial, petitioner gave a statement to police after viewing the grocery store video revealing that he was the person seen at the grocery store on camera. App. 25, lines 6-12.

During the PCR hearing, petitioner testified in effect that trial counsel erred in failing to call two defense witnesses, who could have testified at trial, that petitioner was not guilty as a principle

an accomplice. Petitioner explained at the PCR hearing that trial counsel was aware of the existence of Brigham Young and Zeldric Vance, who would have testified as witnesses for the defense. Young and Vance would have corroborated petitioner's version of the facts via his (petitioner's) PCR testimony, which was that he (petitioner) took Young to Workman's hotel room because Young wanted drugs, and that Workman paid for the drugs via his (Workman's) checkbook. Petitioner's PCR testimony was that no robbery occurred. App.262, l. 23 – p. 263, l. 18. Young and Vance, who both testified at the PCR hearing, confirmed that no robbery occurred, but rather a drug transaction between Workman and Young occurred, and that petitioner had no role in the drug deal between the men. App. 261, l. 19 – p. 269, l. 25; App. 270, l. 13 – p. 271, l. 2. Nonetheless, in the event the jury interpreted the case to be an armed robbery, even if Young and Vance had testified; clearly, Vance's and Young's testimony would have established that petitioner was not a principal or an accomplice to any alleged robbery.

Brigham Young testified at the PCR hearing and explained that petitioner gave him a ride to the hotel, and that upon arriving there he (Young) asked Workman for the money owed, and that Workman paid him by turning over his checkbook. Then, Young stated that he took the checkbook to Ingles grocery store and cashed a check. Young added that Lounds simply gave him a ride to the hotel not knowing the reason for giving him a ride, and that no robbery even occurred in the case. App. 287, l. 7 – p. 294, l. 17.

Zeldric Vance testified at the PCR hearing also and explained that Workman wanted "weed," so he asked Young to supply Workman with the "weed," and that he saw Workman give Young the checkbook as payment. Vance stated that petitioner merely gave Young a ride to the hotel where Workman had a room. Vance added that no robbery that occurred. App. 297, l. 10 – p. 303, l. 11.

Trial counsel testified during the PCR hearing and explained that he did not recall being informed of the existence of Vance or Young as witnesses, but that the presentment of petitioner's case as a drug deal rather than a robbery might not have been the best strategy. App. 306, l. 13 – p. 309, l. 3; App. 314, l. 1 – p. 315, l. 21. Contrary to counsel's testimony, the record revealed that although counsel did not have Vance present to testify at trial as a potential witness, it was clear that counsel had Young present at trial, but Young could not testify based on the trial judge's ruling that counsel failed to list him as a potential witness prior to trial. App. 188, l. 1 – p. 190, l. 5.

Under the state's version of the facts, petitioner was portrayed as a principle. A principle in a crime is one who perpetrates the crime. State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 697 S.E.2d 578 (2010). However, even though petitioner did not testify at trial, he pled not guilty to armed robbery, which in effect meant he did not admit guilt as a principle, and his PCR testimony confirmed this.

Alternately, despite petitioner's and Vance's and Young's PCR testimony, there was wiggle room for the state to assert petitioner's guilt as an accomplice because petitioner drove Young to the location where the incident (robbery or drug deal) took place, and because there was a tape in existence showing Young and someone else suspected to be petitioner at a grocery store cashing one of Workman's checks, and because Young confessed to appearing at the grocery store and cashing one of Workman's checks, and because petitioner confessed that he was on the videotape at that grocery store when said check was cashed. As a rule, accomplice liability occurs when one joins with another to accomplish an illegal purpose where there is a common design or intent to commit a crime, which is committed by the accomplice via an overt act. State v. Mattison, supra. The accomplice must have acted with the intention of encouraging and abetting the commission of the offense, and the accomplice must have knowledge of the principle's criminal conduct, although prior knowledge that a crime is going to be committed without more is insufficient evidence to