STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

JAN 04 2016

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

SC SUPREME COURT

The Honorable Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2015-000124

Anthony Maurice Lounds, Petitioner,

v.

State of South Carolina, Respondent.

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR
WRIT OF CERTIORARI**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

KAREN C. RATIGAN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar # 68331

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, S.C. 29211
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Did trial counsel err in failing to inquire into and communicate to Petitioner the State's plea offers presented in the case?
2. Did trial counsel err in failing to call defense witnesses Brigham Young and Zeldric Vance, both of whom testified at the PCR hearing, to testify at trial because both of these witnesses would have provided favorable testimony for the defense by offering testimony that Petitioner was not guilty as neither a principle [sic] nor an accomplice liability [sic], and by presenting testimony that the case was a drug deal gone awry rather than a robbery in the first place?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner at the November 2010 term of General Sessions for armed robbery (2009-GS-23-10155, count 1) and possession of a weapon during commission of a violent crime (2009-GS-23-10155, count 2). (App.pp.334-35). Scott D. Robinson, Esquire represented Petitioner.

After the State called the case to trial, Petitioner was found guilty. On July 13, 2011, the Honorable C. Victor Pyle, Jr. sentenced Petitioner to concurrent terms of life imprisonment without parole for armed robbery and 5 years for possession of a weapon during commission of a violent crime. (App.p.236).

A notice of appeal was filed at the South Carolina Court of Appeals. Susan B. Hackett, Esquire of the South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense, Division of Appellate Defense represented Petitioner on appeal. The Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's convictions and sentences. State v. Lounds, Op. No. 2013-UP-289 (S.C. Ct. App. filed June 26, 2013. The remittitur was sent on July 17, 2013.

Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR) on August 2, 2013 (2013-CP-23-4178). (App.pp.239-45). A hearing was held at the Greenville County Courthouse on October 21, 2014. (App.pp.251-322). Petitioner was present and represented by R. Mills Ariail, Esquire. Karen C. Ratigan, Esquire of the South Carolina Attorney General's Office represented Respondent. The Honorable Letitia H. Verdin denied relief in an order filed December 19, 2014. (App.pp.324-33).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The proper standard for review of a PCR evidentiary hearing is whether “any evidence of probative value” exists to sustain the post-conviction relief judge’s findings. Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. 115, 119, 386 S.E.2d 624, 626 (1989). In a post-conviction relief proceeding, the applicant bears the burden of proving the allegations in their application. Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 442, 334 S.E.2d 813, 814 (1985).

ARGUMENT

I. The issue of whether trial counsel was deficient in his inquiry into or conveyance of plea offers is not preserved for appellate review.

Petitioner argues trial counsel was deficient because he failed to “inquire into and communicate” to him any plea offers from the State. This issue, however, is not preserved for appellate review because it was not addressed in the final order of dismissal. As such, it was not raised to and ruled upon by the PCR judge and is not preserved for review by this Court. See Staubes v. City of Folly Beach, 339 S.C. 406, 412, 529 S.E.2d 543, 546 (2000) (“It is well-settled that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial court to be preserved for appellate review.”); see also Plyler v. State, 309 S.C. 408, 409, 424 S.E.2d 477, 478 (1992) (holding an issue is procedurally barred if it is not both raised to and ruled upon by the PCR judge) (citing Hyman v. State, 278 S.C. 501, 299 S.E.2d 330 (1983)). While there may have been some testimony about plea offers at the PCR hearing, Petitioner did not file a post-trial motion to alter or amend the order to include a ruling on this issue. In the absence of such a post-trial motion, this Court may not review

the issue on appeal. See Noisette v. Ismail, 304 S.C. 56, 58, 403 S.E.2d 122, 124 (1991) (holding that where a trial court does not explicitly rule on an argument raised, and appellant makes no Rule 59(e) motion to obtain a ruling, the appellate court may not address the issue).

II. The PCR judge did not err in finding Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving trial counsel was deficient in not calling certain witnesses at trial.

Petitioner argues trial counsel was deficient in not calling Brigham Young and Zeldric Vance as defense witnesses at his trial because these witnesses would have testified the incident in this case was not an armed robbery. Petitioner's argument is without merit.

A.

At the PCR hearing, Petitioner stated he told trial counsel's investigator that the man in the Ingles video with him was someone he knew by his street name, Al Capone. (App.pp.261-62). Petitioner stated his family later "got his name" and told the investigator this person was Brigham Young. (App.p.261). Petitioner stated Young asked him for a ride to the motel, that they saw Anthony Watkins and Zeldric Vance there, and that Young spoke to someone about marijuana and received a checkbook. (App.p.263). Petitioner stated Watkins and Vance could have testified there was no robbery. (App.p.263). Petitioner stated his prior attorney had said Watkins and Vance would testify at his trial but that trial counsel did not call them. (App.pp.268-70). Petitioner also stated Young was not allowed to testify at his trial. (App.p.264).

Brigham Young stated he had known Petitioner for years. (App.p.287; pp.294-

95). Young stated he went to the motel that night and sold marijuana to someone. Young stated this person did not have any cash, so he gave Young his identification card and checkbook. (App.pp.291-92). Young stated he asked Petitioner to give him a ride to Ingles and he used a check there. (App.pp.292-93; p.295). Young stated there was no robbery. (App.p.294). Young stated he came to the courthouse for Petitioner's trial but was not allowed to testify. (App.pp.288-89).

Zeldric Vance stated he knew Young but did not know Petitioner. (App.pp.297-98). Vance stated he was at the motel that night and saw Young receive a checkbook. (App.pp.298-301). Vance stated he would have testified at trial that this was a drug deal, not a robbery. (App.p.302).

Trial counsel confirmed he had an investigator working on Petitioner's case. (App.pp.304-05). Trial counsel testified he did not know whether Young's name was ever provided to him prior to trial because Petitioner did not know this person's name (and referred to him as "Allen" when he spoke to detectives). (App.pp.307-08). Trial counsel testified he would have asked his investigator to follow up if he had been given Young's name. (App.p.308). Trial counsel testified he subpoenaed any witnesses that Petitioner requested. (App.p.308). Trial counsel noted Petitioner admitted to being in the motel room and then later at Ingles when the check was cashed. (App.p.312). Trial counsel also noted he did not believe it would have been a good trial strategy to argue this was a drug deal instead of an armed robbery. (App.pp.308-09).

B.

In denying Petitioner's application for post-conviction relief, the PCR judge found

Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving both that trial counsel was ineffective and that he was prejudiced as the result of trial counsel's representation. (App.pp.324-33).

C.

For an applicant to be granted PCR as a result of ineffective assistance of counsel, he must show both: (1) that his counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms, and (2) that he was prejudiced by his counsel's ineffective performance. See Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); Porter v. State, 368 S.C. 378, 383, 629 S.E.2d 353, 356 (2006). In order to prove prejudice, an applicant must show "there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. at 117-18, 386 S.E.2d at 625. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome of trial." Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. 182, 186, 480 S.E.2d 733, 735 (1997) (citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984)).

D.

Deficiency

Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms. Petitioner failed to demonstrate trial counsel was provided with the proper contact information for Young prior to trial. Trial counsel testified Petitioner only knew this person by his street name ("Allen" or "Al Capone"). Trial counsel testified he did not recall Petitioner's family giving him any contact information for potential witnesses, but that he would have had

his investigator look into anyone Petitioner requested.

Trial counsel's testimony is supported by the record. Investigator Martin testified at trial that Petitioner said he was at Ingles with Allen but that Martin was unable to verify Allen's identity. (App.p.139). Young and Vance were also not listed as a potential defense witness during voir dire. (App.p.8). As trial counsel testified his investigator would have followed up with potential witnesses, it is reasonable to infer their contact information was never provided. This is especially true since another person Petitioner noted was in the motel room (Anthony Watkins) was listed as a potential witness. Petitioner's sister even stated at the PCR hearing that she did not provide names or addresses of potential witnesses to trial counsel and Young said Petitioner's sister is who asked him to come to the courthouse on the day of trial. (App.p.296; pp.318-19). Trial counsel stated at trial that he "had no idea who this guy was" when asked about Young's presence at Petitioner's trial and noted Petitioner never said anything to him "regarding a gentleman in the room." (App.p.189).

The record fully supports trial counsel's assertion that he was not made aware of Young and Vance as potential witnesses prior to Petitioner's trial. There is ample probative evidence to support the PCR judge's finding that Petitioner failed to demonstrate trial counsel was ineffective. See Cherry v. State, 300 S.C. at 119, 386 S.E.2d at 626.

Prejudice

Regardless, Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving he was prejudiced by trial counsel's representation. The State presented strong evidence of Petitioner's guilt at

trial. The victim – both in a photographic lineup and in court – identified Petitioner as the man who robbed him at gunpoint at the motel and took his cash and checkbook. (App.pp.64-67; pp.76-77; p.78; pp.145-46). There was an in-store surveillance video at Ingles showing Petitioner was present when one of the victim’s checks was used. (App.pp.122-32; pp.163-66). As the State presented such a strong case against Petitioner, he cannot demonstrate prejudice. See Rosemond v. Catoe, 383 S.C. 320, 325, 680 S.E.2d 5, 8 (2009) (holding no prejudice occurs, even if trial counsel was deficient, where there is otherwise overwhelming evidence of the defendant’s guilt).

Further, Petitioner cannot demonstrate the outcome of his trial would have been different if Young and Vance had testified. It is unlikely the jury would have found Young and Vance to be credible witnesses because Young had a criminal record and was a drug dealer and Vance “[a]lready had some weed” when the incident allegedly took place. (App.pp.291-92; p.296; p.298). In addition, they would have offered testimony that this was a drug deal gone awry and not an armed robbery. (App.pp.291-92; pp.298-302). It is doubtful testimony from these witnesses would have carried favor with the jury and changed the result of Petitioner’s trial. There is no reasonable probability the outcome of Petitioner’s trial would have been any different with Young’s and Vance’s testimony. See Johnson v. State, 325 S.C. at 186, 480 S.E.2d at 735.

E.

Accordingly, Petitioner failed to prove the first prong of the Strickland test – that trial counsel failed to render reasonably effective assistance under prevailing professional norms. Similarly, Petitioner also failed to prove the second prong of Strickland – that he

was prejudiced by trial counsel's performance.

As Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving ineffective assistance of trial counsel, the PCR judge did not err in denying the PCR application. See Frasier v. State, 351 S.C. 385, 389, 570 S.E.2d 172, 174 (2002) ("The burden of proof is on the applicant to prove his allegations by a preponderance of the evidence.").

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, Respondent submits this Court should deny the Petition for Writ of Certiorari. However, if this Court grants certiorari, Respondent requests the opportunity to fully brief the issues discussed above.